SELF-LEARNING MATERIAL



MA POLITICAL SCIENCE

MPS 202- STATE POLITICS IN INDIA

w.e.f Academic Session: 2024-25



CENTRE FOR DISTANCE AND ONLINE EDUCATION UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE & TECHNOLOGY MEGHALAYA nirf India Ranking-2023 (151-200) Accredited 'A' Grade by NAAC

Techno City, 9th Mile, Baridua, Ri-Bhoi, Meghalaya, 793101

SELF- LEARNING MATERIAL

M.A. POLITICAL SCIENCE

MPS 202

STATE POLITICS IN INDIA

Academic Session 2024- 25



CENTRE FOR DISTANCE AND ONLINE EDUCATION UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY MEGHALAYA ACCREDITED 'A' GRADE BY NAAC

Self Learning Material

Centre for Distance and Online Education

University of Science and Technology Meghalaya

First Edition

Print August 2024

© CDOE- USTM

Author(s):

Dr. Md Nazeer Hussain,

Dr. Chandana Bhattacharjya,

Miss Akankhya Kalita

Edited by: Akankhya Kalita.

This book is a distance education module comprising of collection of learning material for students of Centre for Distance and Online Education, University of Science and Technology Meghalaya, 9th Mile G.S. Road, Ri- Bhoi, Meghalaya 793101.

Printed and Published on behalf of Centre for Distance and Online Education, University of Science and Technology Meghalaya by Publication Cell, University of Science and Technology Meghalaya-793101.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

UNIT Name	Page No.
Theoretical Framework for the study of state politics:	
1.1 State politics: Concepts, Meaning, Nature and	
Significance	1- 16
1.2 Linguistic states and reorganization of states of India	
1.3 Constitutional status of states in Indian political system	
Structure of State Governments and Centre State Relations:	
2.1 Executive, Legislature And Role Of Governor	
2.2 Centre- State Relationship: President's Rule, Autonomy And	
Distribution Of Resources.	17- 37
2.3 State And Regional Political Parties: Influence In National	
Politics	
Trends And Impact	
3.1 Issues Of Inter- State Disputes- River Waters, Border	
Disputes	38- 54
3.2 New Demands From Sub- Regions	
3.3 Response To Liberalization Of Economy	
Contemporary Issues In State Politics	
4.1 Caste And State Politics	
4.2 Rise Of Communal Politics Since 1990	55- 65
4.3 Regionalism And Federalism	
	Theoretical Framework for the study of state politics: 1.1 State politics: Concepts, Meaning, Nature and Significance 1.2 Linguistic states and reorganization of states of India 1.3 Constitutional status of states in Indian political system Structure of State Governments and Centre State Relations: 2.1 Executive, Legislature And Role Of Governor 2.2 Centre- State Relationship: President's Rule, Autonomy And Distribution Of Resources. 2.3 State And Regional Political Parties: Influence In National Politics Trends And Impact 3.1 Issues Of Inter- State Disputes- River Waters, Border Disputes 3.2 New Demands From Sub- Regions 3.3 Response To Liberalization Of Economy Contemporary Issues In State Politics 4.1 Caste And State Politics 4.2 Rise Of Communal Politics Since 1990

ABOUT THE COURSE STRUCTURE:

This is the second paper of the M.A. (Second semester) in the subject Political Science.

The course is designed with the needs of learners in mind who have been disconnected from traditional learning methods but remain interested in continuing their education. To make the material learner-friendly, we have attempted to recreate the traditional instructor-led experience through features like sticky notes on the 'utility of learning' each topic, 'let's rewind' sections for review, 'let's sum up' chapter summaries, and 'check your progress' quizzes with answers. Model questions are included at the end of each chapter and can be used as assignments. Learners can refer to the 'let's rewind' notes for clarification and are encouraged to consult the provided references for their assignments.

ABOUT THE UNITS:

Unit 1: Theoretical Framework for the study of state politics

This chapter explores the concept of state politics, its significance, and its application in the Indian context. It defines state politics, its nature, and its importance in understanding governance. The chapter then delves into the formation of linguistic states in India, examining the constitutional basis for state reorganization. Finally, it analyzes the constitutional status of states within the Indian political system, discussing the distribution of powers between the central and state governments.

Unit 2: Structure of State Governments and Centre State Relations

This chapter examines the structure of state governments and their relationship with the central government. It details the roles of the executive, legislature, and governor within state administration. The chapter explores the dynamics of center-state relations, including the concept of President's Rule, the distribution of resources, and the degree of state autonomy. Lastly, it analyzes the influence of state and regional political parties on national politics, highlighting their role in shaping India's political landscape.

Unit 3: Trends and Impact

This chapter examines contemporary challenges and trends in Indian state politics. It explores inter-state disputes over shared resources like river waters and border demarcation. The emergence of new demands from sub-regional entities within states is analyzed. Finally, the chapter evaluates the impact of economic liberalization on state politics, assessing its implications for governance, development, and power dynamics.

Unit 4: Contemporary Issues in State Politics

This chapter delves into contemporary challenges shaping state politics in India. It examines the complex interplay between caste and electoral politics, analyzing how caste identities influence political behavior and outcomes. The chapter explores the rise of communal politics since the 1990s, discussing its impact on social cohesion and democratic processes. Finally, it investigates the dynamics between regionalism and federalism, assessing how regional aspirations interact with the national political framework.

UNIT 1: THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK FOR THE STUDY OF STATE POLITICS

UNIT STRUCTURE:

Learning Outcome

Utility of Learning the Unit

- 1.1 State politics: Concepts, Meaning, Nature and Significance
- 1.2 Linguistic states and reorganization of states of India
- 1.3 Constitutional status of states in Indian political system

Let's Sum Up

Further Reading

Model Questions/ Assignment

LEARNING OUTCOME:

After reading this Unit, learners will be able to know:

- The concept, meaning, nature and significance of state politics
- What a linguistic state is and their reorganization
- Constitutional status of states in Indian political system

UTILITY OF LEARNING THE UNIT:

Comprehending state politics within India is crucial for understanding the nation's federal system, its diverse cultural fabric, and the complexities of democratic governance. By examining concepts such as linguistic states, state reorganization, and the constitutional role of states, students can gain a deeper appreciation for the relationship between the central government and regional administrations, the challenges of balancing unity and diversity, and the significance of decentralized power in India's political landscape.

1.1. STATE POLITICS:

A Brief Introduction:

India's vast territorial expanse, diverse cultural landscape, and complex socio-economic realities necessitated a governance structure beyond a centralized authority. While a unified nation was essential, the unique challenges and aspirations of different regions demanded a decentralized approach.

The foundations for India's federal system were laid during British colonial rule, which, while centralized, recognized regional differences. Post-independence, the Constitution formalized this federal arrangement, dividing power between the national government and constituent states. This framework aimed to accommodate India's linguistic and cultural pluralism. Initially, the focus was on centralized economic planning for national development. However, the limitations of a uniform approach to a diverse nation became apparent over time. Regional disparities in terms of economic growth, infrastructure, and social indicators grew, necessitating more localized solutions. Furthermore, competition for resources like water, land, and minerals intensified, demanding effective management at the state level. The emergence of strong regional leadership also contributed to the growth of state-centric politics.

The evolution of state politics in India is a response to the country's multifaceted challenges. It reflects a balance between national unity and regional autonomy, a cornerstone of India's federal democracy.

Meaning:

State politics encompasses the political activities, processes, and power dynamics within a specific geographic region or state. It involves the distribution of power, decision-making, and policy formulation at the state level. This includes the interaction between the state government, its institutions, political parties, interest groups, and the citizenry. State politics deals with issues such as economic development, education, healthcare, infrastructure, law and order, and social welfare, all of which directly impact the lives of the state's residents. Essentially, it is the arena

where policies are crafted and implemented to address the unique challenges and opportunities faced by a particular state.

Evolution of the Study of State Politics in India

As discussed above, the study of state politics in India has evolved significantly over time, influenced by historical, political, and academic factors-

Historical Background

- Colonial Era: While colonial India witnessed some form of provincial politics, the focus was primarily on the nationalist movement at the national level. Provincial politics was often overshadowed by the overarching struggle for independence.
- **Post-Independence:** The initial years post-independence were marked by a strong central government and a relatively weak role for states. The focus was on nation-building and economic planning, often overlooking regional disparities. Consequently, the study of state politics was limited.

Factors Influencing the Emergence

- **Rise of Regionalism:** The 1950s and 1960s witnessed the emergence of strong regional identities and demands for statehood. This led to the formation of new states and a growing awareness of regional issues.
- Emergence of Regional Parties: The rise of regional parties challenged the dominance of national parties, highlighting the significance of state-level politics.
- **Economic Reforms:** The liberalization of the Indian economy in the 1990s increased the role of states in attracting investments and promoting development. This led to a greater focus on state-level economic policies and governance.
- **Decentralization:** The constitutional amendments related to Panchayati Raj and urban local bodies empowered local self-governance, making the study of state and local politics more relevant.

Academic Interest: The growing recognition of the importance of state-level politics led
to increased academic interest in the subject. Scholars began to explore the diverse
political, social, and economic dynamics within Indian states.

Evolution of the Field

Initially, the study of state politics was primarily descriptive, focusing on the political institutions and processes of different states. However, over time, the field has become more analytical and comparative, examining the factors that influence policy outcomes, governance performance, and the relationship between the center and the states.

Today, the study of state politics in India encompasses a wide range of topics, including federalism, regionalism, caste and religion in politics, development politics, electoral behavior, and institutional analysis. It has become an essential area of research for understanding the complexities of Indian politics.

Individuals and Theories Influencing the Study of State Politics in India

While the study of state politics in India has largely been shaped by historical and socio-political developments, certain individuals and theoretical frameworks have played a significant role in its evolution.

Key Individuals

- Political Leaders: Leaders like Jawaharlal Nehru, Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel, and later, regional stalwarts such as C. Rajagopalachari, J.B. Kripalani, and others, through their actions and policies, laid the foundation for the federal structure and the role of states in the Indian polity.
- Academic Pioneers: Scholars and political scientists like Rajni Kothari, Myron Weiner, and later, V.O. Chidambaram, R.K. Dhawan, and others, have contributed significantly to theorizing and empirical research on Indian state politics. Their works have provided a framework for understanding the complexities of state-level politics.

Theoretical Frameworks

- **Federalism:** The concept of federalism, as enshrined in the Indian Constitution, has been a central theme in the study of state politics. Scholars have analyzed the evolution of federal relations, the distribution of powers, and the challenges faced by the federal system.
- Regionalism: The rise of regionalism has necessitated a deeper understanding of the
 factors driving regional aspirations, the impact of regional parties, and the challenges
 posed by regional imbalances.
- **Development Studies:** The study of state politics in India has been closely linked to development issues. Scholars have analyzed the role of states in economic growth, poverty reduction, and social welfare.
- **Comparative Politics:** Comparative studies of Indian states have helped identify commonalities and variations in political processes, institutions, and outcomes.

It's important to note that the influence of these individuals and theories has often been intertwined with broader historical and socio-political developments. The study of state politics in India continues to evolve, incorporating new theoretical perspectives and empirical evidence to deepen our understanding of this complex field.

Nature and Significance of the Study of State Politics

Nature of State Politics

State politics pertains to the political activities, processes, and power dynamics within the boundaries of a specific geographic region or state. It delves into the distribution of power, decision-making, and policy formulation at the sub-national level. This includes the interplay between the state government, its institutions, political parties, interest groups, and the citizenry. State politics is characterized by its focus on regional issues, challenges, and opportunities, often distinct from the national political landscape.

Significance of the Study of State Politics

The study of state politics is crucial for understanding the complexities of governance and public policy. It provides insights into:

- **Federalism in Action:** State politics offers a practical understanding of federal systems, examining the balance of power between the center and the states, and the implications for policy implementation.
- Regional Disparities: By analyzing state-level data, researchers can identify regional
 disparities in development, governance, and social indicators, informing targeted policies
 and interventions.
- **Diverse Political Cultures:** State politics reveals the variations in political cultures, electoral behavior, and party systems across different regions, contributing to a comprehensive understanding of Indian politics.
- **Policy Innovation:** Many states serve as laboratories for policy experimentation, and studying successful state initiatives can inform national policymaking.
- **Democratic Consolidation:** The study of state politics helps assess the health of democracy at the grassroots level, identifying challenges and opportunities for strengthening democratic institutions.
- **Public Policy Analysis:** Understanding state-level politics is essential for effective public policy analysis, as it allows for the evaluation of policies in different contexts.

The study of state politics is indispensable for comprehending the intricacies of governance, addressing regional challenges, and strengthening democratic processes in India.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS:

- Is national security policy a core aspect of state politics?
- What is the primary focus of the study of state politics?
- How does the study of state politics contribute to understanding Indian politics?
- Name one of the significant contributions of studying state politics.

1.2 LINGUISTIC STATES AND REORGANIZATION OF STATES IN INDIA

The formation of Indian states based on linguistic lines was a pivotal chapter in the nation's history. The British colonial administration's administrative divisions, often disregarding

linguistic and cultural nuances, sowed the seeds of discontent. Post-independence, the demand for states aligned with linguistic identities intensified. The crux of the movement was the belief in efficient governance through leaders who shared the people's language and cultural ethos. The Andhra Pradesh movement, culminating in the martyrdom of Potti Sreeramulu, was a watershed moment. This, among other regional agitations, pressurized the government to address the issue.

The States Reorganization Commission (SRC), established in 1953, studied the matter in depth. The subsequent States Reorganization Act of 1956 created 14 states and six union territories, primarily based on language. While this fulfilled the aspirations of many, it also presented challenges such as boundary disputes, administrative overhauls, and developmental disparities.

States like Maharashtra, Gujarat, Kerala, Punjab, Haryana, and Nagaland emerged during this period, each with its unique journey towards statehood. The reorganization, though complex, strengthened regional identities, preserved cultural heritage, and fostered a sense of belonging.

However, the process was not without its shortcomings. Boundary disputes and administrative challenges often accompanied the formation of new states. Moreover, the development trajectories of these states varied.

The legacy of linguistic state formation continues to shape India's federal structure. While it addressed long-standing regional aspirations, the process also highlighted the complexities of balancing unity with diversity in a vast and varied nation.

The States Reorganization Commission: A Stepping Stone for Linguistic States

Established in December 1953, the States Reorganization Commission (SRC) played a crucial role in responding to the growing demand for states based on language. Following independence, India faced the challenge of adapting its colonial-era administrative divisions to better reflect the aspirations of its diverse population.

The commission, led by Justice Fazal Ali and supported by K.M. Panikkar and H.N. Kunzru, undertook a significant undertaking. Their task was to redraw state boundaries, considering

linguistic, cultural, and administrative factors. They conducted a thorough analysis, exploring aspects like geographical proximity, economic sustainability, and efficient governance structures. After two years of dedicated work, the SRC submitted its report in September 1955.

Key Recommendations of the SRC

- **Linguistic Basis:** The SRC primarily advocated for the reorganization of states on linguistic lines, acknowledging the strong public sentiment in favor of linguistic homogeneity.
- Administrative Efficiency: The commission emphasized the need for viable and
 efficient administrative units, considering factors like population, geographical
 contiguity, and economic viability.
- Financial Considerations: The SRC recognized the financial implications of state reorganization and recommended measures to ensure fiscal stability for the newly formed states.
- **Preservation of National Unity:** While prioritizing linguistic homogeneity, the commission also stressed the importance of maintaining national unity and security.

Though not without controversy, the recommendations provided the foundation for the landmark States Reorganization Act of 1956. The SRC's work marked a turning point in acknowledging regional aspirations and paving the way for a more modern Indian federal structure.

The States Reorganization Act of 1956

The States Reorganization Act of 1956 stands as a landmark achievement in shaping India's administrative landscape. Enacted in response to the growing demands for states based on language, the Act aimed to redraw the nation's political map.

This complex process involved merging existing states, princely territories, and other administrative units into a more streamlined federal structure. Language played a central role in this reorganization, but other factors like efficient administration, geographical coherence, and economic viability were also considered.

The Act's significance lies in acknowledging regional aspirations and laying the groundwork for a modern Indian federal system. However, the reorganization wasn't without its challenges. Issues like boundary disputes, administrative complexities, and regional disparities persisted, necessitating further adjustments in the years to come.

The Birth of Andhra Pradesh: A Linguistic State

The formation of Andhra Pradesh stands as a pivotal moment in India's journey towards linguistic statehood. The Telugu-speaking population, historically divided between Madras Presidency and Hyderabad State, yearned for a unified political entity that reflected their shared cultural and linguistic heritage. This desire intensified post-independence. The movement gained immense momentum following the tragic demise of Potti Sreeramulu, who sacrificed his life demanding a separate Telugu state.

His martyrdom galvanized public opinion. The States Reorganization Act of 1956 finally realized this long-held aspiration. Initially encompassing Telugu-speaking regions of Madras Presidency, Andhra Pradesh later expanded to include Telugu-dominated areas of Hyderabad State. This culmination of a decades-long struggle marked a significant milestone in India's federal journey, demonstrating the potency of popular will in shaping the nation's political landscape.

The Birth of Maharashtra and Gujarat

The creation of Maharashtra and Gujarat marked a significant chapter in India's state reorganization. The Bombay Presidency, a legacy of British rule, encompassed a diverse population speaking Marathi and Gujarati. Growing linguistic and cultural assertiveness among these groups post-independence fueled demands for separate states.

Despite the States Reorganization Act of 1956 addressing linguistic reorganization elsewhere, the issue of Bombay State remained unresolved. Persistent agitations from both Marathi and Gujarati communities necessitated a separate act. The Bombay Reorganization Act of 1960 finally divided the state on linguistic lines, creating Maharashtra and Gujarat. This process was complex, involving intricate boundary demarcation, resource allocation, and administrative

restructuring. While fulfilling the aspirations of Marathi and Gujarati people, it also presented challenges, such as determining the fate of Bombay city, eventually incorporated into Maharashtra. The formation of these states exemplifies the interplay between linguistic nationalism and democratic processes in shaping India's federal structure.

Restructuring Punjab: Birth of Haryana and Himachal Pradesh

The reorganization of the Punjab region was a complex process driven by linguistic, geographical, and administrative considerations. The pre-independence Punjab was a vast territory with a diverse population. Post-independence, demands for a Punjabi-speaking state intensified.

Initially, the States Reorganization Act of 1956 created a larger Punjab. However, the persistent calls for a separate Punjabi-speaking state led to the Punjab Reorganization Act of 1966. This divided the existing Punjab into three entities: Punjab, predominantly Punjabi-speaking; Haryana, primarily Hindi-speaking; and the hilly regions, merged with Himachal Pradesh.

This restructuring was a complex undertaking, involving careful boundary delineation, resource allocation, and administrative setup. While addressing the linguistic aspirations of the region, it also posed challenges in terms of governance and development.

Formation of North Eastern States: A State-wise Overview

The northeastern region of India, often referred to as the 'Seven Sister States', presents a unique case in India's state formation. Unlike the rest of the country, these states were primarily delineated based on ethnic and tribal identities rather than linguistic lines. Historically the precursor to the region, Assam was a larger administrative entity during British rule. Post-independence, it became a state, but its vast territory and diverse population paved the way for the creation of separate states.

Nagaland: Recognizing the distinct identity and cultural heritage of the Naga people, Nagaland became the first state to be carved out of Assam in 1963. This marked the beginning of a trend towards recognizing the unique characteristics of the region's tribes.

Meghalaya: Established in 1972, Meghalaya primarily comprises the Khasi, Jaintia, and Garo tribes. Its formation was a direct response to the demand for a separate administrative unit that could better address the needs of these tribal communities.

Tripura: Formerly a princely state, Tripura joined the Indian Union in 1949. It attained statehood in 1972, acknowledging the distinct identity of the Tripuri people.

Mizoram: With a predominant Mizo population, the region initially formed part of Assam. It achieved Union Territory status in 1972 and subsequently became a full-fledged state in 1987.

Manipur: Another former princely state, Manipur joined India in 1949. Its geographical location and unique cultural identity led to its continued existence as a separate state.

Arunachal Pradesh: The largest of the northeastern states, Arunachal Pradesh, achieved statehood in 1987. The region's diverse tribal population and strategic location necessitated its separate administrative status.

The formation of these states was a complex process influenced by various factors including geographical isolation, insurgency, and economic challenges. While these states have made significant progress, they continue to grapple with issues related to infrastructure, development, and identity.

Overall summary of formation of states and Union Territories can be understood under the following ground:

Pre-Independence Era (British India)

While not officially states or union territories, these regions formed the basis for the later administrative divisions of India.

- Bengal Presidency
- Madras Presidency
- Bombay Presidency
- Punjab Province

- United Provinces of Agra and Oudh
- Central Provinces
- Bihar and Orissa Province

Post-Independence: States

- 1950: Assam, Bihar, Bombay, Madhya Pradesh, Madras, Orissa, Punjab, Uttar Pradesh, West Bengal
- 1953: Andhra Pradesh (first linguistic state)
- **1956:** Kerala, Karnataka, Madhya Pradesh (reorganized), Maharashtra, Gujarat, Punjab, Haryana, Himachal Pradesh (Union Territory)
- **1960:** Nagaland
- **1961:** Goa (Union Territory)
- **1966:** Haryana, Punjab (reorganized)
- **1971:** Manipur, Tripura (Union Territories)
- **1972:** Himachal Pradesh, Meghalaya, Tripura (state), Manipur (state), Mizoram (Union Territory)
- **1975:** Sikkim (Union Territory)
- **1987:** Goa, Mizoram, Arunachal Pradesh (states)
- **1986:** Sikkim (state)
- 2000: Jharkhand, Chhattisgarh, Uttarakhand
- 2014: Telangana

Post-Independence: Union Territories

- 1956: Himachal Pradesh, Ladakh (part of Jammu and Kashmir)
- 1961: Goa, Daman and Diu, Dadra and Nagar Haveli
- **1972:** Mizoram
- **1975:** Sikkim
- 1987: Dadra and Nagar Haveli, Daman and Diu
- 2019: Jammu and Kashmir (special status revoked, reorganized into two UTs), Ladakh (separate UT)

• 2020: Dadra and Nagar Haveli and Daman and Diu merged into a single UT

Note: This list provides a general overview and does not include all administrative changes and reorganizations that have occurred over the years.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- What was the primary factor in the formation of most Indian states after independence?
- Was the process of state formation in India smoother one?

1.3 CONSTITUTIONAL STATUS OF STATES IN INDIAN POLITICAL SYSTEM

The constitutional status of Indian states defines their relationship with the central government. India operates as a federal system, dividing power between these two levels. State formation, primarily driven by linguistic and cultural factors, has shaped this federal structure. Understanding the division of legislative, executive, and financial powers between the Centre and states, as well as the role of High Courts and special provisions for certain states, is crucial to grasping the complexities of India's federalism. A distinctive feature is the concurrent list, permitting both tiers to legislate on shared matters.

State legislatures, the law-making bodies, vary in structure. The directly elected Legislative Assembly holds primary law-making power, while the Legislative Council, where it exists, functions as a review chamber. The state executive, led by the Chief Minister and Council of Ministers, is accountable to the Legislative Assembly, while the Governor is the nominal head.

High Courts, the apex state judiciary, uphold the Constitution and safeguard citizens' rights. Special provisions accommodate regional diversities, such as those for Jammu and Kashmir (now repealed) and Northeastern states.

The relationship between the Centre and states involves cooperation and competition. Mechanisms like Inter-State Councils and Finance Commissions facilitate coordination. However, challenges like regional disparities and resource distribution persist.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- What is the fundamental structure of the Indian political system?
- Who is the constitutional head of a state in India?

LET'S SUM UP:

The study of state politics is essential for understanding the intricate dynamics of governance within a federal system like India. It delves into the distribution of power, decision-making, and policy formulation at the state level. By examining regional disparities, diverse political cultures, and the interplay between state and central governments, researchers can gain valuable insights into the challenges and opportunities facing different regions. State politics plays a crucial role in policy innovation, democratic consolidation, and overall governance effectiveness.

India's administrative map has evolved significantly since independence, shaped by historical, linguistic, and geographical factors. Initially based on British colonial divisions, the country underwent a major reorganization to form states aligned with linguistic and cultural identities. This process, marked by the creation of new states and union territories, continues to shape India's federal structure.

The constitutional status of Indian states defines their relationship with the central government within a federal framework. Power is divided between these tiers, with states possessing autonomy over certain matters while the Centre retains control over others. The formation of states, often influenced by linguistic and cultural factors, has shaped this federal structure. Key aspects include legislative, executive, and financial powers of states, the role of High Courts, and the dynamics of Centre-state relations.

FURTHER READING

- Shastri, Sandeep. *Indian Federalism: A Critical Analysis*. New Delhi: Sage Publications India Pvt. Ltd., 2015.
- Mitra, Subrata. "The Politics of Development in Indian States: A Comparative Perspective." *Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 45, no. 12, 2010, pp. 34-42.

- Bhargava, Rajeev. *Indian Federalism: A Critical Assessment*. Oxford University Press, 2014.
- Mehta, Pratap Bhanu. "The Making of India's Federal System." *Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 35, no. 26, 2000, pp. 2345-2352.
- Pylee, M. V. *India's Constitution*. S. Chand & Company Ltd., 2019.
- Basu, D. D. "Centre-State Relations in India: A Constitutional Perspective." *Indian Journal of Political Science*, vol. 45, no. 2, 1984, pp. 123-142.

ANSWERS TO CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Is national security policy a core aspect of state politics?
 - No.
- What is the primary focus of the study of state politics?
 - Regional issues and challenges.
- How does the study of state politics contribute to understanding Indian politics?
 - > By providing insights into diverse political cultures.
- Name one of the significant contributions of studying state politics.
 - Assessing the health of democracy at the grassroots level.
- What was the primary factor in the formation of most Indian states after independence?
 - > Linguistic identity
- Was the process of state formation in India smoother one?
 - ➤ No, it was not. Rather, it involved a complex negotiations and administrative challenges.
- What is the fundamental structure of the Indian political system?
 - > Federal structure.
- Who is the constitutional head of a state in India?
 - ➤ The Governor.

MODEL QUESTIONS/ ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Based on your understanding, how do you assess the importance of study of state politics as a separate field?
- 2. Explain the causes of emergence of the study of state politics in Indian context.

3. Make a case study of formation of any of the Indian states of your choice.

UNIT 2: STRUCTURE OF STATE GOVERNMENTS AND CENTRE STATE RELATIONS

UNIT STRUCTURE:

Learning Outcome

Utility of Learning the Unit

- 2.1 Executive, Legislature and Role of Governor
- 2.2 Center- State Relationship: President's Rule, Autonomy and Distribution of Resources
- 2.3 State and Regional Political Parties: Influence in National Politics

Let's Sum Up

Further Reading

Answers to Check Your Progress

Model Questions/ Assignment

LEARNING OUTCOME:

After reading the Unit, Learners will-

- Understand the structure and functioning of state governments, including the roles of the executive, legislature, and governor.
- Analyze the dynamics of center-state relations, including resource sharing, autonomy, and emergency provisions.
- Evaluate the influence of state and regional parties on national politics and policymaking.

UTILITY OF LEARNING THE UNIT:

Understanding the dynamics of state governance in India is crucial for comprehending the nation's federal structure. This knowledge equips individuals with insights into power distribution, administrative functions, and the interplay between state and central authorities. It

fosters a deeper appreciation for India's diverse political landscape and the challenges inherent in managing such a vast and varied nation.

2.1 EXECUTIVE, LEGISLATURE AND ROLE OF GOVERNOR

EXECUTIVE:

The state executive is the branch of government responsible for implementing laws and policies enacted by the legislature. It is a crucial component of the federal structure of India. The state executive is composed of several key elements, each with its own distinct role and responsibilities. The **Governor** is the constitutional head of the state, appointed by the President of India. While vested with significant powers, the Governor's role is largely formal and ceremonial. The real executive power rests with the **Chief Minister** and the **Council of Ministers**. The **Chief Minister** is the political head of the state, elected by the members of the Legislative Assembly. They are responsible for forming the government and allocating portfolios to ministers. The **Council of Ministers**, comprising the Chief Minister and other ministers, is collectively responsible to the Legislative Assembly for its actions.

In subsequent sections, we will delve deeper into the roles and responsibilities of these key components of the state executive.

The Governor

As the constitutional head of a state, the Governor is appointed by the President of India. While vested with significant powers on paper, their role is primarily formal and ceremonial. The Governor acts as a bridge between the state government and the central government.

Key functions of the Governor include:

- **Appointing the Chief Minister:** The Governor appoints the leader of the majority party in the Legislative Assembly as the Chief Minister.
- **Assenting to Bills:** The Governor has the power to assent to bills passed by the legislature, but can also reserve a bill for the President's consideration or withhold assent.

- **Financial Matters:** The Governor has the power to grant or withhold assent to demands for grants.
- Law and Order: While primarily the responsibility of the state government, the Governor can take over law and order in exceptional circumstances.
- **Emergency Powers:** In situations of breakdown of constitutional machinery, the Governor can recommend President's Rule.
- **Judicial Functions:** The Governor is the head of the state's judiciary.
- Discretionary Powers: In certain exceptional circumstances, the Governor can exercise
 discretionary powers, such as appointing a caretaker government or recommending
 President's Rule.

It is essential to note that the Governor's discretionary powers are limited, and they are expected to act on the advice of the Council of Ministers in most matters. The Governor's role is often seen as a balancing force between the state government and the central government.

The Governor: A Nexus between State and Center

The Governor serves as a crucial intermediary between the state government and the central government. Their role encompasses conveying the state's specific needs, aspirations, and challenges to the national level. Simultaneously, they play a pivotal part in ensuring that central government policies and initiatives are effectively implemented within the state's boundaries. This dual responsibility is particularly critical in a federal structure like India, where the harmonious functioning of both levels of government is essential for overall governance.

Challenges and Controversies Surrounding the Governor's Role

The Governor's position has often been a subject of contention and debate. The discretionary powers vested in this office, coupled with the manner in which these powers are exercised, have frequently led to questions about the Governor's impartiality and independence. Accusations of political bias and interference in the state's affairs have occasionally marred the office's reputation. Moreover, the delicate balance between the Governor's role as a representative of the central government and their position as the constitutional head of the state has often been a source of friction, raising questions about the extent of their authority and accountability.

The Chief Minister

The Chief Minister is the de facto head of the state government. As the leader of the majority party in the Legislative Assembly, they wield significant political power.

- **Political Leadership:** The Chief Minister provides overall political direction to the state government.
- Cabinet Formation: They are responsible for forming the Council of Ministers by selecting and appointing ministers.
- **Portfolio Allocation:** The Chief Minister assigns portfolios to ministers based on their expertise and the government's priorities.
- Coordination: They ensure coordination and cooperation among different departments and ministers.
- **Public Relations:** The Chief Minister is the public face of the state government and interacts with the media and the public.
- Inter-state Relations: Represents the state at national and international forums.

The Chief Minister's ability to effectively discharge these duties is critical to the overall performance of the state government. They must possess strong leadership, administrative, and political skills to navigate the complexities of governance.

The Governor and the Chief Minister: A Complex Dynamic

The relationship between the Governor and the Chief Minister is a cornerstone of India's federal system, yet it is often fraught with complexities and potential for conflict. Constitutionally, the Governor is the formal head of the state, while the Chief Minister is the de facto executive head. This apparent dichotomy often leads to a nuanced interplay of powers, responsibilities, and expectations.

A Delicate Balance

• **Nominal vs. Real Power:** The Governor holds constitutional authority, but much of the executive power is exercised by the Chief Minister and their council of ministers. This

- creates a delicate balance where the Governor must act within constitutional limits while respecting the democratic mandate of the elected government.
- Appointment and Dismissal: The Governor appoints the Chief Minister, but this power
 is generally exercised in accordance with established conventions. The dismissal of a
 Chief Minister is a drastic step, usually taken in exceptional circumstances and often
 leads to significant political repercussions.
- Advisory Role: The Chief Minister is constitutionally bound to keep the Governor
 informed about the state's affairs. However, the extent to which the Governor seeks or
 acts upon this advice is a matter of discretion and can vary based on individual
 personalities and political contexts.
- **Emergency Powers:** While the Governor has emergency powers, their exercise is typically in consultation with the Chief Minister. However, in situations of breakdown of constitutional machinery, the Governor may have to act independently.

Areas of Potential Friction

- **Discretionary Powers:** The Governor's discretionary powers, such as the power to reserve bills for the President's assent or to recommend President's Rule, can lead to conflicts with the Chief Minister if exercised without consensus.
- **Political Interference:** The Governor's impartiality is often questioned, especially when they are perceived to be acting under pressure from the central government or engaging in partisan politics.
- **Constitutional Conflicts:** Differences in interpretation of the Constitution can lead to disagreements between the Governor and the Chief Minister, potentially impacting governance and public perception.

The relationship between the Governor and the Chief Minister is a dynamic one, shaped by factors such as political climate, personalities, and constitutional provisions. While the Constitution outlines their roles and responsibilities, the actual practice often involves a complex interplay of factors that can influence the effectiveness of governance.

The Council of Ministers

The Council of Ministers is the collective decision-making body of the state government. It comprises the Chief Minister and other ministers who are assigned specific portfolios. The Council is responsible for:

- **Policy Formulation and Implementation:** The Council is responsible for formulating and implementing government policies.
- **Administration:** They oversee the day-to-day administration of the state, ensuring efficient delivery of public services.
- **Financial Management:** The Council is involved in financial planning, budgeting, and expenditure.
- Law and Order: Maintaining law and order is a crucial responsibility of the Council of Ministers.
- **Development:** The Council is responsible for planning and implementing development programs for the state.

The Council of Ministers is collectively responsible to the Legislative Assembly. This means that the ministers are accountable for their actions and can be removed from office through a no-confidence motion.

In essence, the Governor, Chief Minister, and Council of Ministers form the core of the state executive, each with its own distinct role and responsibilities. While the Governor is the constitutional head, the real executive power rests with the Chief Minister and the Council of Ministers.

The Chief Minister and the Council of Ministers: A Symbiotic Relationship

The Chief Minister is the linchpin of the state government, and their relationship with the Council of Ministers is pivotal to effective governance. It's a dynamic equilibrium, where the Chief Minister provides leadership and direction, while the ministers execute policies and represent the government at various levels.

The Chief Minister as the Head of the Council

- **Primus Inter Pares:** While the Chief Minister is a member of the Council, they hold a distinct position as its head. They are the first among equals.
- Appointment and Dismissal: The Chief Minister recommends the appointment of ministers to the Governor and can also recommend their dismissal.
- **Portfolio Allocation:** The Chief Minister assigns portfolios to ministers, balancing their expertise, political considerations, and workload.
- Coordination and Control: The Chief Minister ensures coordination among different ministries and maintains overall control over the government's agenda.
- Collective Responsibility: The doctrine of collective responsibility holds the entire Council of Ministers accountable for government decisions, with the Chief Minister as the ultimate authority.

Challenges and Considerations

- **Balancing Act:** The Chief Minister must balance the need for strong leadership with the importance of collective decision-making.
- **Ministerial Ambitions:** Managing the aspirations of ministers, who often have their own political ambitions, can be challenging.
- **Coordination Issues:** Coordinating the work of multiple ministries and ensuring policy coherence can be complex.
- **Public Opinion:** The government's popularity is influenced by the performance of individual ministers, which can impact the Chief Minister's image.

The relationship between the Chief Minister and the Council of Ministers is a constantly evolving one, shaped by political factors, administrative challenges, and the personalities involved. A harmonious and efficient working relationship is crucial for effective governance and public service delivery.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Who is the formal head of an Indian state?
- With whom the real executive power in an Indian state lies?
- What is the primary relationship between the Governor and the Chief Minister?
- How a chief minister is chosen?

LEGISLATURE

State Legislatures are the legislative bodies of Indian states, analogous to the national Parliament. They are responsible for lawmaking within the state's jurisdiction. While some states have a unicameral legislature (Legislative Assembly), others operate a bicameral system with a Legislative Council as the upper house. These bodies represent the will of the people, control finances, oversee the executive, and play a crucial role in democratic governance.

Structure of State Legislatures

India's federal structure mandates state-level legislative bodies to manage regional affairs. Most states have a unicameral legislature, comprising a single house known as the Legislative Assembly. However, six states - Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Karnataka, Maharashtra, Telangana, and Uttar Pradesh - have bicameral legislatures, with an upper house called the Legislative Council. The Legislative Assembly is the primary law-making body, directly elected by the people. Members of the Legislative Council are elected indirectly by members of the Legislative Assembly, local bodies, and graduates. The Governor, though not a member, is a constitutional part of the legislature.

Functions of State Legislatures

State legislatures serve as the cornerstone of democratic governance at the state level. Their primary functions include

• Lawmaking: Legislatures enact laws on matters listed in the State List and Concurrent List of the Constitution. These laws govern various aspects of state life, including agriculture, education, health, and public order.

- **Financial Control:** They authorize taxation, approve the state budget, and control public expenditure.
- **Executive Control:** Legislatures exercise oversight over the executive through questions, debates, and motions of no-confidence. They hold the government accountable to the people.
- **Constitutional Amendments:** While the power to amend the Constitution primarily rests with the Parliament, state legislatures play a role in certain amendments.
- Election of Representatives: Legislative Assemblies elect representatives to the Rajya Sabha (upper house of the Indian Parliament) and participate in the election of the President of India

Significance of State Legislatures

State legislatures are crucial for India's federal democracy.

- **Reflect Regional Aspirations:** Legislatures represent the diverse interests and aspirations of different regions, ensuring that regional concerns are addressed.
- **Promote Good Governance:** By overseeing the executive, legislatures contribute to effective and accountable governance.
- **Strengthen Federalism:** They are essential for maintaining the balance of power between the center and the states, upholding federalism.
- Educate Public Opinion: Legislative debates and discussions inform the public about government policies and issues.
- **Check on Executive Power:** The legislature acts as a check on the executive, preventing abuse of power and ensuring transparency.

State legislatures are vital institutions in India's democratic setup. Their role in lawmaking, financial control, and oversight of the executive is indispensable for the smooth functioning of the federal system and the well-being of the people.

Powers of the Legislative Council

The Legislative Council, an upper house present in select Indian states, holds distinct authorities. It can scrutinize bills passed by the Legislative Assembly, proposing amendments. However, the Assembly retains the final decision-making power. Beyond this, the Council serves as a platform for in-depth discussions on matters of state-wide importance like education or social welfare. Additionally, it participates in national politics by contributing members to the Rajya Sabha. Nevertheless, the Council's influence remains secondary to the Assembly.

Role of Opposition Parties in State Legislatures

Opposition parties are crucial to a state legislature's effectiveness. They act as watchdogs, scrutinizing the government's actions, exposing shortcomings, and offering alternative policies. This oversight ensures accountability and transparency. Moreover, opposition viewpoints enrich legislative debates, preventing a one-sided approach to governance. Their presence compels the ruling party to maintain performance standards, creating a healthy competitive environment.

Challenges Faced by State Legislatures

Indian state legislatures grapple with several challenges. Excessive partisanship often overshadows the collective good, as legislators prioritize party interests over the state's welfare. In some cases, weak oppositions hinder effective oversight. The presence of criminal elements within legislatures tarnishes their reputation. Furthermore, overreliance on central funding limits the state's autonomy in decision-making. Overcoming these obstacles is essential for strengthening state legislatures and enhancing their effectiveness in serving the public interest.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- What is the primary function of state legislatures in India?
- State a challenge faced by state legislatures in India?

2.2 CENTRE- STATE RELATIONSHIP

India's federal system is characterized by a complex interplay of powers and responsibilities between the central government (Union) and the constituent states. This intricate relationship,

often referred to as centre-state relations, is a cornerstone of India's constitutional framework. It involves a delicate balance of autonomy and interdependence, with both levels of government possessing distinct yet overlapping functions. Understanding the nuances of this relationship is essential to comprehending the governance structure and challenges faced by India as a nation.

Constitutional Framework of Centre-State Relations

Division of Powers

India's Constitution employs a tripartite division of legislative powers between the Union and the states, outlined in the Seventh Schedule. The Union List enumerates subjects of national importance, where the central government holds exclusive authority. Examples include defense, foreign affairs, currency, and communications. Conversely, the State List details matters primarily concerning state governance, such as agriculture, police, public order, and local self-government. The Concurrent List encompasses subjects where both the Union and states can legislate, such as education, forest, and trade unions. This division aims to balance the need for national unity with the autonomy of states.

Role of the Governor

As the constitutional head of a state, the Governor occupies a pivotal position in centre-state relations.

Appointed by the President, they represent the Union at the state level. The Governor's role is multifaceted, encompassing executive, legislative, and discretionary functions. On the executive front, they are the nominal head of the state government, though real power rests with the Chief Minister. In the legislative sphere, the Governor summons, prorogues, and dissolves the state legislature. However, their discretionary powers, such as the power to reserve bills for presidential assent or to recommend President's Rule, can significantly influence centre-state dynamics. This dual role often places the Governor in a delicate position, balancing the interests of the state with those of the Union.

Emergency Provisions

The Indian Constitution grants the Union government exceptional powers under specific circumstances, known as emergency provisions.

These provisions are designed to address national security threats, financial instability, and breakdowns of constitutional machinery in states. Article 356, often referred to as President's Rule, allows the President to assume the governance of a state if its constitutional machinery breaks down. While intended as a safeguard, its use has often been a subject of controversy. Additionally, Articles 352 (National Emergency) and 360 (Financial Emergency) provide for extraordinary powers to the Union in times of crisis. These provisions underscore the complex and hierarchical nature of centre-state relations, where the Union government can assert significant authority under specific conditions.

President's Rule:

President's Rule, formally known as Article 356 of the Indian Constitution, is a contentious provision allowing for the suspension of a state government and the imposition of direct central rule. While intended as a safeguard for constitutional breakdowns, it has often been a subject of political debate and judicial scrutiny.

Conditions for Imposition

The Constitution outlines certain conditions for imposing President's Rule:

- Breakdown of constitutional machinery: This is the primary justification, indicating a
 situation where the state government is unable to function according to constitutional
 norms.
- **Governor's report:** Typically, the President acts based on a report from the state's Governor, suggesting a breakdown of constitutional machinery.
- Parliamentary approval: Any proclamation imposing President's Rule must be approved by both houses of Parliament within two months.

Process and Implications

When President's Rule is imposed, the state government is dissolved, and the Governor assumes executive powers. The state legislature is either suspended or dissolved. The central government appoints advisors to assist the Governor in administering the state. This period is often marked by increased central control and a potential for political implications.

Criticisms and Controversies

President's Rule has been criticized for its potential for misuse as a political tool. Concerns have been raised about its impact on federalism, democratic principles, and the autonomy of states. The Supreme Court has played a crucial role in defining the limits of President's Rule and ensuring its application in accordance with constitutional norms.

Autonomy and Distribution of Resources in Centre-State Relations

India's federal structure is a delicate balance between the autonomy of states and the need for national unity. This equilibrium is significantly influenced by the distribution of resources and powers between the Centre and the states.

Autonomy of States

The Indian Constitution grants states a considerable degree of autonomy in administering their territories. This is reflected in the division of powers enshrined in the Seventh Schedule, which categorizes subjects into three lists: Union List, State List, and Concurrent List. While the Union List outlines subjects under exclusive central jurisdiction, the State List empowers states to legislate on matters of regional importance such as agriculture, law and order, and public health. The Concurrent List allows both the Centre and states to legislate on shared subjects like education, forest, and trade unions.

However, this autonomy is not absolute. The Centre retains overriding powers, particularly through the Governor's role, emergency provisions, and financial controls. These mechanisms can, at times, curtail the decision-making space of states.

Distribution of Resources

The allocation of financial resources is a critical determinant of state autonomy. The Constitution mandates the sharing of central taxes with states through the Finance Commission. This mechanism aims to reduce fiscal disparities among states. Additionally, the Centre provides grants-in-aid for specific purposes. While these transfers enhance state capacities, they also create a degree of dependence on the Centre.

Overlapping jurisdictions, especially in areas like taxation and expenditure, can lead to complexities in resource management. Furthermore, the growing demands of development and the increasing role of market forces have introduced new challenges in resource allocation.

Challenges and Opportunities

The interplay between autonomy and resource distribution is complex. While states desire greater fiscal autonomy to address their specific needs, the Centre often prioritizes national objectives. This can lead to tensions and conflicts. However, cooperative federalism offers an opportunity to address these challenges through dialogue and consensus-building.

To enhance state autonomy while maintaining national cohesion, it is essential to:

- Strengthen the fiscal capacity of states through increased devolution of tax powers.
- Improve the targeting and efficiency of central transfers.
- Foster inter-state cooperation in resource sharing and management.
- Empower state institutions to effectively utilize available resources.

By addressing these issues, India can strengthen its federal structure and ensure that the benefits of development are equitably shared across the country.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Which Constitutional provision outlines the distribution of powers between the Union and states in India?
- What is the primary mechanism for sharing central tax revenues with states in India?

2.3 STATE AND REGIONAL POLITICAL PARTIES

India's political landscape is a complex interplay of national and regional forces. While national parties dominate the national stage, state and regional parties have emerged as powerful players, reflecting the diverse interests and aspirations of different regions. These parties, often rooted in specific cultural, linguistic, or ethnic identities, have significantly influenced the country's political trajectory. Understanding their role is crucial to comprehending India's democratic dynamics.

Reasons for the Emergence of State and Regional Political Parties in India

The emergence and growth of state and regional political parties have been defining features of India's political landscape. These parties have evolved as a response to the complex interplay of factors, including linguistic, cultural, economic, and political developments. Their rise has significantly reshaped the nation's party system, challenging the dominance of national parties and introducing new perspectives and priorities into the political discourse.

1. Linguistic Reorganization of States

The formation of states on a linguistic basis in the 1950s was a pivotal factor in the emergence of regional parties. The creation of linguistic states gave rise to a strong sense of regional identity and aspirations, which led to the formation of parties to represent these interests. For instance, the Dravida Munnetra Kazhagam (DMK) in Tamil Nadu emerged as a champion of Tamil language and culture.

2. Failure of National Parties to Address Regional Concerns

The inability of national parties to adequately address the specific needs and aspirations of different regions led to a vacuum, which was filled by regional parties. These parties often emerged as more responsive to local issues, such as unemployment, poverty, and infrastructure development, than their national counterparts.

3. Rise of Regional Leaders

The presence of charismatic and influential regional leaders has been instrumental in the growth of state and regional parties. These leaders often capitalized on regional sentiments and built strong electoral bases. For example, Jayalalitha in Tamil Nadu and Naveen Patnaik in Odisha have been influential figures in their respective states.

4. Economic Disparities and Regional Imbalances

Uneven development across different regions of India has contributed to the rise of regional parties. These parties often emerged to champion the cause of economically backward regions, demanding greater resource allocation and investment.

5. Decline of Congress Dominance

The decline of the Congress party's dominance in the 1980s and 1990s created opportunities for regional parties to expand their influence. As the Congress weakened, regional parties filled the political void and emerged as powerful forces in their respective states.

6. Assertion of Regional Identities

The growing assertion of regional identities and cultural pluralism has led to the formation of parties that champion the interests of specific regions or linguistic groups. These parties often emphasize the unique character of their region and seek to protect its cultural heritage.

State and regional political parties have emerged as potent forces in India's political landscape. Rooted in diverse regional, cultural, and economic contexts, these parties have played a crucial role in representing the aspirations of specific constituencies. While they have faced challenges such as resource constraints and leadership issues, their impact on national politics is undeniable. As India continues to evolve, the interplay between national and regional forces will remain a central feature of the country's political dynamics.

Challenges and Opportunities for State and Regional Parties

• Funding and Organizational Structure

State and regional parties often grapple with financial constraints, relying heavily on donations and membership fees. Building a robust organizational structure, including a strong cadre of

party workers and efficient administrative systems, is essential for their survival and growth. Competing with the financial muscle and organizational might of national parties presents a significant challenge.

Leadership and Succession

Many regional parties are often personality-centric, heavily reliant on charismatic leaders. This dependence can create vulnerabilities, particularly during leadership transitions. Developing institutional mechanisms for leadership succession and ensuring continuity is crucial. Building a strong second echelon of leadership is essential for the party's long-term sustainability.

Adapting to Changing Political Landscape

The dynamic nature of politics demands constant adaptation. Regional parties must evolve to address emerging challenges and opportunities. Understanding evolving electoral dynamics, such as demographic shifts and changing voter preferences, is essential for staying relevant. The increasing influence of globalization and economic changes necessitates a recalibration of party agendas to align with new realities. Balancing regional aspirations with national interests is a delicate task that requires strategic thinking and political acumen.

IMTACT ON NATIONAL POLITICS

The emergence and evolution of state and regional political parties have significantly transformed India's political landscape. These parties have emerged as potent forces, challenging the dominance of national parties and representing the diverse aspirations of different regions. This essay examines the factors that led to their rise, their ideologies, electoral performance, and the challenges they face. By understanding the dynamics of these parties, we can gain valuable insights into India's federal system and its evolving political landscape.

• Challenge to National Party Dominance

The rise of regional parties has significantly eroded the dominance of national parties, particularly the Congress, which once enjoyed near-hegemony. These parties have successfully

challenged the national parties' electoral stronghold in their respective regions, forcing them to adapt their strategies and policies to compete effectively.

• Representation of Regional Interests

Regional parties have been instrumental in bringing regional concerns to the national stage. They have advocated for the specific needs and aspirations of their respective regions, ensuring that diverse perspectives are considered in national policymaking. This has led to a more inclusive and representative national political discourse.

Role in Shaping National Agendas

By virtue of their electoral strength and influence, regional parties have played a crucial role in shaping national agendas. They have often been kingmakers in coalition governments, wielding significant influence over policy decisions. Furthermore, their ability to mobilize regional opinion has forced national parties to address regional issues more seriously.

State and regional political parties have become indispensable components of India's political mosaic. While they have faced numerous challenges, their impact on the nation's political discourse and governance is undeniable. By effectively representing regional interests and holding national parties accountable, these parties have contributed to a more inclusive and democratic polity. As India continues to evolve, the interplay between national and regional forces will shape the country's future trajectory.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Name one primary factor in the emergence of state and regional political parties in India.
- What is the criterion to decide the ability of regional parties to influence national policies?

LET'S SUM UP:

The Governor is the formal head of an Indian state, appointed by the President, while the Chief Minister is the de facto executive head, elected by the people. The Governor's role is largely ceremonial, with executive power vested in the Chief Minister and their council of ministers. A

complex interplay of power-sharing, cooperation, and potential conflict characterizes the relationship between the Governor and Chief Minister, influenced by constitutional provisions, political dynamics, and individual personalities.

State legislatures in India are crucial components of the federal system, primarily responsible for lawmaking within their respective states.

While most states have unicameral assemblies, some also possess an upper house or Legislative Council. These bodies not only create laws but also oversee the executive, control finances, and represent regional interests. However, challenges such as party politics, weak oppositions, and criminalization of politics hinder their effectiveness. To ensure optimal performance, strengthening the role of opposition, improving transparency, and reducing political interference are essential.

India's federal system hinges on the delicate balance between state autonomy and central authority. The Constitution delineates powers between the Union and states through the division of lists, but the extent of state autonomy is influenced by factors such as financial resources, Governor's role, and emergency provisions. Fiscal federalism, involving revenue sharing and transfer mechanisms, further shapes this dynamic. While states possess administrative freedoms, their dependence on central funds and the potential for central intervention complicate their autonomy. Effective centre-state relations require careful management of these complexities to ensure both national unity and state-level progress.

State and regional parties in India have emerged as influential political actors, challenging the dominance of national parties. Rooted in diverse regional, cultural, and economic contexts, these parties have successfully represented regional aspirations and interests. While facing challenges in terms of funding, leadership, and adaptation, they have significantly shaped India's political landscape. Their role in coalition governments and their ability to influence national agendas underscore their importance in India's federal system.

FURTHER READING

• Laxmikanth, M. V. *Indian Government and Politics*. Tata McGraw-Hill Education, latest edition.

ANSWERS TO CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Who is the formal head of an Indian state?
 - Governor
- With whom the real executive power in an Indian state lies?

- > The Chief Minister and their council of ministers.
- What is the primary relationship between the Governor and the Chief Minister?
 - ➤ A complex interplay of powers and responsibilities.
- How a chief minister is chosen?
 - A chief minister is nominated by the Governor (though this nomination is typically based on the leader of the majority party in the state legislature).
- What is the primary function of state legislatures in India?
 - > To make laws for the state.
- State a challenge faced by state legislatures in India?
 - Criminalization of politics.
- Which Constitutional provision outlines the distribution of powers between the Union and states in India?
 - > Seventh Schedule
- What is the primary mechanism for sharing central tax revenues with states in India?
 - > Finance Commission.
- Name one primary factor in the emergence of state and regional political parties in India.
 - ➤ Linguistic heterogeneity
- What is the criterion to decide the ability of regional parties to influence national policies?
 - > Electoral strength

MODEL QUESTIONS/ ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Write a note on the relationship between the Governor and Chief Minister of a state? Can there be any trouble in the relationship in terms of exercise of discretionary power of the Governor?
- 2. Explain the challenges faced by a state legislature in Indian.
- 3. Explain centre- state relationships in detail.
- 4. How far the state and regional political can fulfil democratic norms in a country like India?

5.	Write	an	essay	on	the	impacts	of	state	and	regional	political	parties	in	national
	politic	cs.												

UNIT 3: TRENDS AND IMPACT

UNIT STRUCTURE:

Learning Outcome

Utility of Learning the Unit

- 3.1 Issues of Inter-state Disputes- River Waters, Border Disputes
- 3.2 New Demands from Sub-Regions
- 3.3 Response to Liberalization of economy

Let's Sum Up

Further Reading

Answers to Check Your Progress

Model Questions/ Assignment

LEARNING OUTCOME

After reading the unit, learners will be able to:

- Analyze inter-state disputes.
- Understand sub-regional demands.
- Assess impact of liberalization.

UTILITY OF LEARNING THE UNIT:

Understanding inter-state disputes is crucial for appreciating the complexities of India's federal structure and the challenges in resource management. Recognizing the emergence of subregional demands highlights the evolving dynamics of Indian politics and the need for inclusive governance. Analyzing the impact of economic liberalization on different regions is essential for comprehending the development disparities and the government's role in addressing them. Collectively, these areas provide a comprehensive perspective on India's socio-political and economic landscape.

3.1 ISSUES OF INTER-STATE DISPUTES

India's federal structure often manifests in disputes between states, primarily over shared resources like water and contested border territories. Water disputes, such as those over the Cauvery and Krishna rivers, have been particularly contentious, involving complex legal, political, and socio-economic dimensions. Border disagreements, like those between Assam and Nagaland, arise from historical, ethnic, and administrative factors. These conflicts pose significant challenges to national unity and require effective dispute resolution mechanisms.

River Water Disputes: An Inter-State Challenge

River basins often transcend political boundaries, making water a shared resource. However, uneven distribution of water across regions, coupled with increasing water scarcity due to climate change, population growth, and industrialization, has led to intense competition and conflicts among states. This note delves into the complexities of river water disputes in the context of inter-state relations.

Causes of River Water Disputes

- Unequal distribution of water resources: River basins typically have uneven water availability across regions. Upstream states often enjoy a larger share of water, leading to conflicts with downstream states facing scarcity.
- Competing water demands: Increasing population, industrialization, and agricultural activities exert immense pressure on water resources, exacerbating competition among states.
- Lack of cooperation and coordination: Inadequate mechanisms for inter-state cooperation and water-sharing often lead to disputes as states prioritize their own interests.
- **Climate change:** Changing precipitation patterns, altered river flows, and increased water variability contribute to water scarcity and intensify conflicts.

Impacts of River Water Disputes

- **Economic losses:** Water scarcity affects agriculture, industry, and hydropower generation, leading to significant economic losses for the affected states.
- **Social unrest:** Water shortages can trigger social unrest, protests, and even violence as people struggle for access to this essential resource.
- Environmental degradation: Overexploitation of water resources can lead to environmental degradation, including depletion of groundwater, river pollution, and loss of biodiversity.
- **Inter-state tensions:** River water disputes can escalate tensions between states, hindering cooperation in other areas and creating a hostile environment.

Mechanisms for Dispute Resolution

- Inter-State River Water Disputes Act: Several countries have enacted specific legislation to address river water disputes. These laws establish tribunals, boards, or authorities to adjudicate and manage water sharing.
- **Inter-state agreements:** Negotiated agreements between states provide a cooperative framework for water sharing and management.
- **Mediation and arbitration:** Independent third-party intervention can help resolve disputes through mediation or arbitration.
- Integrated water resource management (IWRM): Adopting a holistic approach to water management, considering all users and environmental aspects, can contribute to conflict prevention and resolution.

Case Studies

- **India:** The Indus Waters Treaty between India and Pakistan, and the inter-state disputes over the Ganges, Cauvery, and Krishna rivers exemplify the challenges of river water sharing.
- Other regions: Similar disputes exist in other parts of the world, such as the Nile River basin, the Mekong River basin, and the Colorado River basin.

River water disputes pose significant challenges to sustainable development, cooperation, and peace. Effective management of water resources requires collaborative efforts, equitable water

sharing, and the implementation of robust dispute resolution mechanisms. Addressing the root causes of these conflicts, such as water scarcity and unequal distribution, is essential for long-term solutions.

River Water Disputes: A Case Study of the Indus Basin

The Indus River basin, shared by India and Pakistan, is a prime example of the complexities and challenges associated with inter-state river water disputes. This note delves into the historical, geopolitical, and legal dimensions of the Indus water conflict, highlighting the implications for both nations. The Indus River, originating in the Tibetan Plateau, flows through Kashmir and Punjab before entering Pakistan. Both India and Pakistan rely heavily on the river for agriculture, hydropower, and domestic use. The partition of India in 1947 divided the basin, leading to immediate tensions over water sharing.

The Indus Waters Treaty

To mitigate the potential for conflict, the World Bank mediated the Indus Waters Treaty (IWT) in 1960. The treaty allocated the river system's waters between the two countries:

- Western rivers: Indus, Jhelum, and Chenab were primarily allocated to Pakistan.
- Eastern rivers: Ravi, Beas, and Sutlej were primarily allocated to India.

The treaty established a Permanent Indus Commission to oversee implementation and resolve disputes. While the IWT has been instrumental in preventing large-scale conflicts, it has not eliminated tensions entirely.

Issues and Challenges

- **Diversion projects:** India's construction of dams and canals on the eastern rivers has raised concerns in Pakistan about reduced water availability.
- Water scarcity: Both countries face increasing water scarcity due to population growth, climate change, and inefficient water management practices.
- **Terrorism:** The geopolitical tensions between India and Pakistan, often exacerbated by terrorism, have impacted cooperation on water management.

• **Changing climate:** Altered precipitation patterns and glacial melting in the Himalayas are affecting river flows, adding to the complexity of water management.

Implications

The Indus water dispute has far-reaching implications for both India and Pakistan:

- **Economic impact:** Water scarcity can hinder agricultural production, hydropower generation, and industrial development.
- **Food security:** Reduced water availability can threaten food security for millions of people in both countries.
- **Regional stability:** Continued tensions over water sharing can undermine regional stability and hinder cooperation in other areas.
- Environmental concerns: Overexploitation of water resources can lead to environmental degradation, including salinity, waterlogging, and depletion of groundwater.

The Indus water dispute is a complex and multifaceted issue with significant implications for both India and Pakistan. While the Indus Waters Treaty has been a cornerstone of cooperation, addressing the challenges posed by water scarcity, climate change, and geopolitical tensions requires ongoing dialogue and collaboration. Sustainable water management and equitable sharing of resources are crucial for ensuring peace and prosperity in the region.

Inter-State Border Disputes: A Complex Challenge

Border disputes between Indian states represent a complex interplay of historical, political, and socio-economic factors.

These disputes often stem from ambiguous or overlapping territorial claims, leading to tensions and conflicts.

Causes of Inter-State Border Disputes

- **Historical factors:** Colonial boundaries, princely states, and post-independence reorganization have created overlapping claims and ambiguities.
- Linguistic and cultural differences: Differences in language, culture, and ethnicity can exacerbate border disputes as states seek to unify regions with shared identities.
- **Resource-rich areas:** Areas with abundant natural resources, such as forests, minerals, or water bodies, are often contested as states vie for control over these assets.
- Administrative convenience: In some cases, border disputes arise due to administrative inefficiencies or lack of clear demarcation.

Impact of Border Disputes

- Socio-political tensions: Border disputes can lead to social unrest, violence, and a breakdown of law and order in the affected areas.
- **Economic losses:** Disputes can hinder economic development as investors are wary of investing in regions affected by uncertainty.
- **Security challenges:** Unresolved border issues can create security vulnerabilities and facilitate cross-border crime.
- Environmental degradation: Disputes over resource-rich areas can lead to environmental degradation due to unsustainable exploitation.

Case Studies of Inter-State Border Disputes

- **Assam-Mizoram:** The dispute centers around the demarcation of the inter-state boundary, with both states claiming certain territories.
- Maharashtra-Karnataka: The dispute revolves around the Belagavi district, with both states claiming it as their own.
- **Punjab-Haryana:** The sharing of river waters and territorial disputes have been long-standing issues between these states.
- **Tamil Nadu-Karnataka:** The Cauvery river water dispute has led to significant tensions between the two states.

Mechanisms for Dispute Resolution

- **Inter-State Council:** The Inter-State Council, established under Article 263 of the Indian Constitution, provides a platform for states to discuss and resolve inter-state disputes.
- **Judicial intervention:** The Supreme Court of India has played a crucial role in adjudicating border disputes and providing binding judgments.
- **Boundary commissions:** The formation of boundary commissions to demarcate disputed territories can help resolve conflicts.
- **Negotiation and diplomacy:** Bilateral talks and diplomatic efforts between the concerned states can contribute to finding amicable solutions.

Challenges in Dispute Resolution

- Complex legal and historical issues: The underlying causes of border disputes are often complex and difficult to resolve.
- **Political considerations:** Political factors can influence the resolution process, as states may prioritize electoral gains over long-term solutions.
- **Public opinion:** Strong public sentiments on both sides of the border can hinder the negotiation process.

Inter-state border disputes in India remain a significant challenge. Addressing these issues requires a multi-faceted approach that includes political will, legal clarity, and cooperation among the states. Sustainable solutions can only be achieved through dialogue, compromise, and a focus on the long-term interests of the nation.

Assam-Mizoram Border Dispute

The Assam-Mizoram border dispute is a longstanding issue with roots in the British colonial era. In 1875, the British administration demarcated a boundary between the Lushai Hills (present-day Mizoram) and the Cachar plains (present-day Assam). Initially, Mizoram accepted this boundary. However, the creation of Mizoram as a union territory in 1972 and subsequently as a full-fledged state in 1987 led to a resurgence of the border dispute.

Core Issues

The dispute primarily revolves around the interpretation of the 1875 notification. Assam claims that the boundary follows the Reiek tlang (hill) and that Mizoram has encroached upon its territory. On the other hand, Mizoram contends that the boundary lies along the inner line defined in the 1875 notification and that Assam has encroached upon its land.

Impact of the Dispute

The Assam-Mizoram border dispute has led to several negative consequences:

- **Violence and casualties:** Clashes between the two states have resulted in loss of life and property damage.
- **Economic losses:** The dispute has hindered economic development in the border areas due to uncertainty and lack of investment.
- Social tensions: The conflict has created animosity between the people of Assam and Mizoram.
- Security challenges: The porous border has security implications for both states.

Attempts at Resolution

Several attempts have been made to resolve the Assam-Mizoram border dispute, including:

- Talks between the two states: High-level meetings and negotiations have been held to find a common ground.
- **Intervention of the central government:** The central government has played a mediating role in the dispute.
- **Formation of regional committees:** Committees comprising representatives from both states have been formed to address the issue.

Despite these efforts, a permanent solution to the border dispute remains elusive.

Challenges to Resolution

• **Differing interpretations of historical documents:** Both states have their own interpretations of the 1875 notification, making it difficult to reach a consensus.

- **Complex geographical terrain:** The hilly and forested border region makes demarcation challenging.
- **Political considerations:** The dispute has become a political issue, with both states vying for political gains.
- **Public sentiment:** Strong public opinions on both sides of the border have hindered the resolution process.

Way Forward

Resolving the Assam-Mizoram border dispute requires a long-term perspective and a commitment to finding a mutually acceptable solution. The following steps could be considered:

- **Joint fact-finding:** Establishing a joint fact-finding committee to examine the historical evidence and ground realities.
- Expert mediation: Involving external experts or mediators to facilitate negotiations.
- **Confidence-building measures:** Implementing measures to reduce tensions and build trust between the two states.
- **Development cooperation:** Promoting joint development projects in the border areas to create shared interests.

Ultimately, a lasting solution to the Assam-Mizoram border dispute will require political will, compromise, and a focus on the well-being of the people living in the border region.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS:

- Is economic prosperity a common cause of inter- state boundary?
- The Indus Waters Treaty is primarily concerned with which type of inter-state dispute?

3.2 NEW DEMANDS FROM SUB- REGIONS

New demands from within nations are often a reflection of evolving societal, economic, and political landscapes. These demands can vary widely based on factors such as geography, culture, economic development, and political systems.

Common Demands from Within Nations:

- **Economic Equity:** This includes demands for fair distribution of wealth, job creation, living wages, social safety nets, and affordable housing.
- **Social Justice:** Demands for equality, inclusivity, and non-discrimination based on race, gender, sexual orientation, religion, or disability.
- Environmental Sustainability: Calls for clean energy, sustainable practices, protection of natural resources, and mitigation of climate change.
- **Good Governance:** Demands for transparency, accountability, corruption-free administration, and effective public service delivery.
- **Cultural Preservation:** Protection and promotion of indigenous cultures, languages, and traditions.
- **Decentralization of Power:** Calls for more autonomy for regional and local governments.
- **Improved Public Services:** Demands for better education, healthcare, infrastructure, and public safety.

Factors Influencing Demands

- **Globalization:** Increased exposure to global trends and standards can lead to demands for similar conditions within a nation.
- **Technological Advancements:** New technologies create new opportunities and challenges, leading to demands for digital literacy, job training, and data privacy.
- **Demographic Changes:** Aging populations, youth bulges, and urbanization can shape demands for specific policies and services.
- **Social Media:** Platforms like social media can amplify voices and accelerate the spread of demands.

Case Studies

The specific demands of a nation often depend on its unique context. For instance:

- **Developed nations:** May focus on issues like income inequality, climate change, and social justice.
- **Developing nations:** May prioritize economic growth, poverty reduction, and infrastructure development.
- **Post-conflict nations:** May emphasize peacebuilding, reconciliation, and rebuilding.

India, a diverse country with a myriad of cultures, languages, and ethnicities, has witnessed a surge in new demands from its sub-regions, particularly the Northeast.

India-Wide Demands

- Economic Disparity: There's a growing demand for bridging the economic gap between
 developed coastal regions and relatively less developed inland and northeastern states.
 This includes calls for increased investment, infrastructure development, and job
 creation.
- Federalism and Autonomy: There's a rising aspiration for more autonomy and decisionmaking powers for states, especially in areas like taxation, resource management, and law and order.
- Language and Cultural Rights: The diverse linguistic and cultural landscape of India has led to demands for recognition and promotion of regional languages and cultures.

Specific Demands in Northeast India

The Northeast, a region characterized by its rich biodiversity, distinct cultures, and historical marginalization, has specific demands:

- **Infrastructure Development:** The region has long been grappling with inadequate infrastructure, including transportation, electricity, and communication. There's a persistent demand for improving connectivity with the rest of India.
- **Economic Development:** The Northeast has immense potential in sectors like tourism, agriculture, and hydropower. However, it lags behind in terms of industrialization and job creation. There's a pressing need for policies to boost the regional economy.

- **Insurgency and Peace:** While significant strides have been made in addressing insurgency, the region still faces challenges related to peacebuilding, rehabilitation, and development.
- Environmental Protection: The Northeast's rich biodiversity is under threat due to deforestation, pollution, and climate change. There's a growing awareness and demand for environmental conservation.
- Autonomy and Identity: Some groups in the Northeast have demanded greater autonomy or even independence, reflecting a desire for preserving their distinct cultural and political identities.

It's important to note that these demands are often intertwined and can vary across different states within the Northeast. Addressing these demands requires a nuanced understanding of the region's complexities and a commitment to inclusive development.

New Demands in Assam

Assam, a state rich in biodiversity and cultural diversity, has witnessed a surge in new demands in recent years. These demands are shaped by a complex interplay of historical, social, economic, and political factors.

Key Demands in Assam

- **Economic Development:** Assam, despite its potential in agriculture, tourism, and hydropower, has lagged in industrialization and job creation. There's a growing demand for policies that can boost the state's economy and create employment opportunities for the youth.
- **Infrastructure Development:** The state grapples with inadequate infrastructure, especially in transportation, energy, and communication. Improving connectivity with the rest of India and within the state is a priority.
- Environmental Concerns: Assam's rich biodiversity is under threat due to deforestation, pollution, and climate change. There's a rising awareness and demand for environmental conservation and sustainable development.

- Education and Healthcare: Improving access to quality education and healthcare remains a significant challenge. There's a growing demand for better educational institutions and healthcare facilities.
- Ethnic and Regional Aspirations: The state's diverse ethnic and regional composition has led to various demands, including those for greater autonomy, protection of cultural identity, and equitable development.
- Addressing Insurgency: While significant progress has been made in combating insurgency, the state continues to face challenges related to peacebuilding, rehabilitation, and development in affected areas.

Specific Examples

- **Demand for ST status:** The Tai Ahom community, among others, has been demanding Scheduled Tribe (ST) status, arguing for their historical and socio-economic conditions.
- **Demand for statehood:** The Barak Valley region has witnessed a resurgence of demands for a separate state, citing issues of underdevelopment and discrimination.
- Land Rights and Indigenous Peoples: There are growing concerns about land rights and the displacement of indigenous communities due to development projects.

These demands often intersect and influence each other, creating a complex landscape for policymakers. Addressing these challenges requires a comprehensive and inclusive approach that considers the aspirations of different sections of society.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Name a primary driver of demands for greater autonomy in Indian sub-regions.
- Name a common challenge faced by many Indian sub-regions.

3.3 RESPONSE TO LIBERALIZATION OF ECONOMY

Liberalization is a term that generally refers to the loosening of government restrictions on economic or social policies. In the realm of economics, it specifically involves reducing

government control over economic activities. This often entails deregulation, privatization, and opening up the economy to foreign trade and investment.

The core idea behind liberalization is to allow businesses and individuals greater freedom to operate without excessive government interference. It is often seen as a way to stimulate economic growth, increase competition, and enhance efficiency. However, it's important to note that liberalization is not synonymous with complete deregulation, and governments typically maintain some level of oversight to protect consumer interests and ensure market stability.

Responses to economic liberalization have been varied and complex, impacting different stakeholders in diverse ways.

Positive Responses

- **Businesses:** Many businesses have thrived due to reduced government interference, increased competition, and access to foreign markets. Increased profits, technological advancements, and expansion opportunities have been common outcomes.
- **Consumers:** Liberalization has often led to a wider variety of goods and services at competitive prices, benefiting consumers through increased choice and affordability.
- **Foreign Investors:** Many foreign investors have been attracted to liberalized economies due to opportunities for profit and growth.

Negative Responses

- Small-Scale Industries: Unprotected competition from larger domestic and foreign firms has led to challenges for small-scale industries, resulting in closures and job losses in some sectors.
- **Labor Unions:** Liberalization often involves downsizing and restructuring, leading to job cuts and reduced worker bargaining power, impacting labor unions.
- **Inequality:** The benefits of liberalization are not always evenly distributed. Income inequality can increase as some groups benefit more than others.
- **Environmental Concerns:** The pursuit of economic growth can sometimes lead to environmental degradation if not properly regulated.

Government Response

Governments have played a crucial role in managing the effects of liberalization. This includes:

- Social safety nets: Providing support to those adversely affected by liberalization, such as unemployment benefits or retraining programs.
- **Regulatory framework:** Establishing regulations to protect consumers, workers, and the environment.
- **Infrastructure development:** Investing in infrastructure to support economic growth and address regional disparities.

It's essential to note that the overall impact of liberalization varies across countries and industries. While it has led to significant economic growth in many cases, it's also important to address the challenges and ensure that the benefits are shared equitably.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Name a potential negative outcome of economic liberalization.
- State a key role of the government in managing the effects of liberalization.

LET'S SUM UP:

Inter-state disputes in India arise from complex historical, geographical, and political factors. River water disputes, such as the Indus Water Treaty between India and Pakistan, highlight the challenges of sharing vital resources across political boundaries. Border disputes, like the one between Assam and Mizoram, stem from historical demarcation issues, resource conflicts, and differing interpretations of territorial claims. These disputes have far-reaching consequences, including economic losses, social tensions, and security challenges. Resolving these conflicts requires sustained dialogue, political will, and cooperation among states, often with the mediation of the central government.

India's diverse landscape has given rise to a spectrum of demands from its sub-regions. The quest for greater autonomy, equitable development, and recognition of cultural identity has fueled movements for statehood or increased regional autonomy. Issues such as economic disparity, infrastructure deficits, and environmental concerns often underpin these demands. While some regions seek to address these challenges within the existing state structure, others advocate for the formation of new states. These dynamics underscore the complexities of India's federal system and the ongoing dialogue about power-sharing and regional aspirations.

Economic liberalization, a policy shift towards reduced government intervention, has yielded varied outcomes. While businesses often benefit from relaxed regulations and expanded markets, challenges arise for small-scale industries facing intense competition. Consumers gain from increased choices and lower prices, but inequality can widen. Governments play a crucial role in mitigating negative impacts through social safety nets, regulations, and infrastructure development. The overall success of liberalization hinges on a delicate balance between economic growth and social equity.

FURTHER READING

- Singh, Rajendra. *India: A Comprehensive Geography*. National Book Trust, India, 2010.
- Stiglitz, Joseph E. *Globalization and Its Discontents*. W.W. Norton & Company, 2002.

ANSWERS TO CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Is economic prosperity a common cause of inter- state boundary?
 - No.
- The Indus Waters Treaty is primarily concerned with which type of inter-state dispute?
 - > River water dispute.
- Name a primary driver of demands for greater autonomy in Indian sub-regions.
 - ➤ Desire for cultural preservation and self-governance.
- Name a common challenge faced by many Indian sub-regions.
 - > Inadequate infrastructure development.
- Name a potential negative outcome of economic liberalization.
 - > Growing income inequality.
- State a key role of the government in managing the effects of liberalization.
 - > Implementing social safety nets.

MODEL QUESTIONS/ ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Write the causes and consequences of inter- state disputes. State some solutions to overcome those.
- 2. Do you think demands within a nation from sub- regions for autonomy is the solution to resolve growing dissatisfaction in those regions? Give your own logic in support of your answers.

3. How do you see economic liberalization? Is it good or bad? Give your own reasons.

UNIT 4: CONTEMPORARY ISSUES IN STATE POLITICS

UNIT STRUCTURE:

Learning Outcome

Utility of Learning the Unit

- 4.1 Caste and State politics
- 4.2 Rise of Communal Politics Since 1990
- 4.3 Regionalism and Federalism

Let's Sum Up

Further Reading

Answers to Check Your Progress

Model Questions/ Assignment

LEARNING OUTCOME

After reading the unit, learners will be able to understand:

- Caste and state politics
- Rise of communal politics since 1990.
- Regionalism and federalism in India.
- Impact of all these on Indian democracy

UTILITY OF LEARNING THE UNIT:

Studying caste and state politics provides a comprehensive understanding of India's complex social and political landscape. By examining the rise of communal politics and the dynamics of regionalism and federalism, students can analyze how these factors shape India's democratic trajectory. This knowledge is crucial for comprehending contemporary Indian politics, its challenges, and potential future directions.

4.1 CASTE AND STATE POLITICS

India, a diverse nation with a rich tapestry of cultures and traditions, is also marked by deeprooted social divisions, primarily along caste lines. The interplay between caste and state politics has been a defining feature of Indian political landscape. The caste system, a hierarchical social order, has been an integral part of Indian society for millennia. The British colonial period witnessed attempts to reform the caste system, but its influence persisted. Post-independence, India adopted a Constitution that enshrined principles of equality and non-discrimination, but caste-based inequalities persisted.

Caste and Electoral Politics

- **Vote Bank Politics:** Political parties often mobilize caste-based vote banks, appealing to specific caste groups through promises of welfare schemes, reservations, and representation.
- **Reservation Policy:** The implementation of reservation policies for Scheduled Castes (SCs) and Scheduled Tribes (STs) has been a significant step towards addressing castebased inequalities, but it has also led to complex political dynamics.
- Caste-Based Organizations: The emergence of caste-based organizations and political parties has further intensified caste consciousness in Indian politics.
- Anti-Caste Movements: Simultaneously, anti-caste movements have challenged the dominance of upper castes and advocated for social justice.

Caste and State Formation

- **Linguistic Basis:** The formation of Indian states primarily on linguistic lines has led to the emergence of regional caste dynamics.
- Caste and Regional Power: Caste affiliations often intersect with regional identities, influencing political alignments and power structures within states.
- Caste-Based Regional Parties: Several regional parties have emerged with a strong caste base, shaping the political landscape of specific states.

Challenges and Implications

• **Inequality and Exclusion:** Despite constitutional safeguards, caste-based inequalities persist, affecting access to education, employment, and political participation.

- **Communal Polarization:** The exploitation of caste for political gains can exacerbate communal tensions and hinder social harmony.
- **Corruption and Clientelism:** Caste-based politics can foster corruption and clientelism, undermining democratic principles.
- Affirmative Action Debates: The reservation policy, while aimed at addressing
 historical injustices, has also generated debates about its effectiveness and potential for
 misuse.

The intricate relationship between caste and state politics in India is a complex and evolving phenomenon. While significant progress has been made in addressing caste-based inequalities, challenges persist. Overcoming these challenges requires sustained efforts to create a more equitable and inclusive society.

Caste-Based Violence in India

Caste-based violence in India is a deep-rooted issue stemming from the hierarchical structure of the caste system. It manifests in various forms, including physical assault, murder, rape, sexual harassment, and social ostracism. The Scheduled Castes (SCs) and Scheduled Tribes (STs) are disproportionately affected. Despite constitutional safeguards and laws like the Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes (Prevention of Atrocities) Act, 1989, caste-based violence persists. Factors such as economic disparities, land ownership, and political power struggles often exacerbate these atrocities. Addressing this issue requires comprehensive measures, including law enforcement reforms, socio-economic development, awareness campaigns, and victim support services.

Caste and State Politics: A Regional Lens

The interplay of caste and state politics varies across India. States like Uttar Pradesh and Bihar have witnessed intense caste-based mobilization and competition for political power. Parties often employ caste-based rhetoric and target specific caste groups for electoral gains. In contrast, states like Kerala have shown relative progress in reducing caste disparities through social reforms and education. However, even in Kerala, caste consciousness persists in subtle forms. The reservation policy, while aimed at addressing historical injustices, has also led to complex

political dynamics and regional variations in its implementation. Understanding the nuances of caste-based politics at the state level is crucial for comprehending India's overall political landscape.

Caste-Based Issues in India

India's caste system, a hierarchical social structure rooted in ancient times, continues to be a significant challenge. While the Constitution abolished untouchability and discrimination, deep-seated prejudices and practices persist.

Key issues:

- Untouchability: Despite being illegal, discrimination against Dalits (formerly "untouchables") remains prevalent in rural areas, affecting access to education, employment, and basic human rights.
- Caste-based violence: Atrocities against Dalits, including killings, assaults, and sexual violence, highlight the ongoing brutality faced by marginalized communities.
- **Discrimination in education and employment:** Caste bias limits opportunities for lower-caste individuals, perpetuating economic inequality and hindering social mobility.
- Political underrepresentation: While affirmative action policies exist, Dalits and other
 marginalized castes remain underrepresented in political leadership, affecting their ability
 to address their concerns.
- Cultural and social exclusion: Deep-rooted prejudices and stereotypes against lower castes create social barriers, leading to ostracism and discrimination in various aspects of life.

Addressing the challenge:

Overcoming caste-based issues requires a multi-faceted approach:

• Strict enforcement of anti-discrimination laws: Effective implementation and punishment for caste-based crimes are essential.

- **Education and awareness:** Promoting social justice and equality through education can challenge stereotypes and foster empathy.
- Empowerment of marginalized communities: Supporting Dalit and other lower-caste groups through education, skill development, and economic opportunities is crucial.
- **Political representation:** Ensuring adequate representation of marginalized castes in decision-making bodies can amplify their voices.
- **Social reforms:** Challenging traditional norms and practices that perpetuate caste discrimination is vital for long-term change.

While progress has been made, eradicating caste-based discrimination remains a complex and ongoing struggle. It requires sustained efforts from the government, civil society, and individuals to build an inclusive and equitable India.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Name an issue that is not a key issue related to caste-based discrimination in India.
- What is the primary aim of affirmative action policies in the context of caste-based issues in India?

4.2 RISE OF COMMUNAL POLITICS SINCE 1990

The post-1990 era in India witnessed a marked escalation in communal politics, often centered around religious lines, primarily Hindu-Muslim. This trend was influenced by a complex interplay of factors, including socioeconomic changes, political developments, and socio-cultural dynamics.

Factors Contributing to the Rise of Communal Politics

• Socioeconomic Changes:

 Economic liberalization led to increased disparities, creating social tensions and anxieties. Globalization and urbanization brought about rapid cultural changes, leading to a search for new identities, often along religious lines.

• Political Developments:

- The decline of the Congress party and the rise of regional parties created a
 political vacuum, allowing communal forces to gain prominence.
- The use of communal issues for electoral gains by political parties became a strategic tool.
- The rise of Hindutva as a dominant political ideology contributed to the polarization of the political landscape.

• Socio-Cultural Factors:

- The construction of a monolithic Hindu identity, often at the expense of minority rights, fueled communal tensions.
- The mobilization of religious sentiments for political purposes led to the amplification of differences.
- The role of media and communication technologies in shaping public opinion and disseminating communal narratives cannot be ignored.

Manifestations of Communal Politics

- **Communal Riots:** The frequency and intensity of communal riots increased, leading to loss of life and property.
- **Politicization of Religious Issues:** Issues like the construction of religious places of worship, cow slaughter, and conversion became highly politicized.
- **Rise of Religious Extremism:** The emergence of extremist groups on both Hindu and Muslim sides intensified communal tensions.
- **Polarization of the Electorate:** The electorate became increasingly divided along religious lines, making it difficult to find common ground.

Consequences of Communal Politics

• Social Cohesion: Communal politics eroded social harmony and trust between different communities.

- **Economic Development:** The climate of fear and uncertainty created by communal tensions hindered economic progress.
- **Democratic Values:** The erosion of democratic norms and institutions was a significant consequence.
- International Image: India's image as a secular and tolerant nation was adversely
 affected.

Addressing the Challenge

To mitigate the negative impacts of communal politics, it is essential to:

- Strengthen Secular Fabric: Promote interfaith dialogue and understanding.
- Good Governance: Ensure equitable development and address socio-economic disparities.
- Impartial Law Enforcement: Uphold the rule of law and protect the rights of all citizens.
- **Responsible Media:** Encourage responsible reporting and avoid sensationalizing communal issues.
- **Political Leadership:** Promote inclusive and reconciliatory politics.

It is crucial to recognize that communal politics is a complex issue with deep-rooted causes. Addressing it requires a multi-faceted approach involving government, civil society, and individuals working together to create a more harmonious and inclusive society.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- What is a negative consequence of communal politics in India?
- Name one of the primary methods used to address the issue of communal politics.

4.3 REGIONALISM AND FEDERALISM

Regionalism is a political, social, or economic movement that focuses on a specific geographic region. It often involves a sense of shared identity, culture, or economic interests among the region's inhabitants. Regionalism can manifest in various forms:

- **Cultural Regionalism:** This is based on shared language, religion, customs, or historical experiences.
- **Economic Regionalism:** This focuses on economic cooperation and integration within a region, such as free trade agreements or common markets.
- **Political Regionalism:** This involves demands for greater autonomy or self-governance within a larger political entity.

Federalism: A Framework for Regionalism

Federalism is a system of government that divides power between a central authority and constituent political units, such as states or provinces. It provides a structural framework within which regionalism can operate. Key characteristics of federalism include:

- **Division of Powers:** The constitution clearly delineates the powers of the central government and the constituent units.
- **Dual Citizenship:** Individuals are citizens of both the central government and their respective state or province.
- **Independent Judiciary:** A neutral judiciary interprets the constitution and resolves disputes between the levels of government.

The Interplay Between Regionalism and Federalism

Regionalism and federalism are often interconnected. Federalism can accommodate regional aspirations by granting autonomy to constituent units. However, excessive regionalism can also pose challenges to national unity and cohesion.

• Positive Aspects:

 Federalism can provide a platform for regional development and address diverse needs. It can enhance democratic participation by bringing governance closer to the people.

o It can foster experimentation and innovation in public policy.

Challenges:

 Strong regional identities can lead to separatist tendencies and threaten national unity.

o Competition among regions for resources can create imbalances.

Fiscal disparities between regions can exacerbate inequalities.

Case Studies: India and the United States

• **India:** A federal system with significant regional diversity, India has experienced both constructive and challenging aspects of regionalism. While federalism has accommodated linguistic and cultural differences, issues like inter-state water disputes and demands for greater autonomy have also emerged.

• United States: The United States offers a classic example of a successful federal system. While regional differences exist, the country has maintained its unity through a balance of central and state powers.

The relationship between regionalism and federalism is complex and dynamic. While federalism can provide a framework for managing regional diversity, it is essential to strike a balance between regional autonomy and national unity. Effective communication, cooperation, and institutional mechanisms are crucial for mitigating potential conflicts and maximizing the benefits of both regionalism and federalism.

CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- State a positive aspect of federalism.
- Platform for regional development.
- What is the primary challenge in balancing regionalism and federalism?
- Maintaining national unity while accommodating regional aspirations.

LET'S SUM UP:

India's caste system continues to be a significant social issue. Despite constitutional bans, discrimination against Dalits and other lower castes persists in various forms, including untouchability, violence, and limited access to education and employment. Addressing this complex problem requires strict law enforcement, education, empowerment of marginalized communities, political representation, and social reforms to challenge deep-rooted prejudices and stereotypes.

The rise of communal politics in India since 1990 has been a significant development. Factors such as economic disparities, political changes, and socio-cultural shifts contributed to this trend. Communal politics manifested in various forms, including riots, politicization of religious issues, and the rise of extremism. These developments have had negative consequences on social cohesion, economic progress, democratic values, and India's international image. To address these challenges, efforts to strengthen secularism, good governance, impartial law enforcement, responsible media, and inclusive politics are essential.

Regionalism, the focus on specific geographic regions, intersects with federalism, a system dividing power between central and regional authorities. While federalism can accommodate regional aspirations, excessive regionalism can pose challenges to national unity. Both systems influence each other, with federalism offering a framework for regional development and democracy, while regionalism can drive innovation. However, issues like separatism, resource competition, and economic disparities require careful management to ensure a balance between regional autonomy and national cohesion.

FURTHER READING

- Brass, Paul R.. *The Politics of India Since Independence*. Cambridge University Press, 1994.
- Odendaal, Adrian C.. Caste in Modern India: From Colonial Construct to Democratic Challenge. Cambridge University Press, 2007.
- Jaffrelot, Christophe. *The Hindu Nationalist Movement and Indian Politics*. Princeton University Press, 1996.
- Brass, Paul R.. *Religion, Politics, and the State: The Indian Case*. Princeton University Press, 1990.
- Kothari, Rajni. *Politics in India*. Orient Blackswan, 2004.
- Subramanian, V.K.. Federalism in India: Origins, Issues, and Challenges. Oxford University Press, 2014.

ANSWERS TO CHECK YOUR PROGRESS

- Name an issue that is not a key issue related to caste-based discrimination in India.
 - > Religious persecution.
- What is the primary aim of affirmative action policies in the context of caste-based issues in India?
 - To provide equal opportunities to marginalized castes.
- What is a negative consequence of communal politics in India?
 - > Erosion of democratic values.
- Name one of the primary methods used to address the issue of communal politics.
 - > Promoting interfaith dialogue.
- State a positive aspect of federalism.
 - Platform for regional development.
- What is the primary challenge in balancing regionalism and federalism?
 - Maintaining national unity while accommodating regional aspirations.

MODEL QUESTIONS/ ASSIGNMENT

- 1. Write a note on caste based politics in India.
- 2. How do you see the impact of communalism in politics? What are the solutions to resolve communal politics?
- 3. Describe regionalism and federalism in your words. How to maintain balance between regionalism and federalism?
